# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

.

•

# CASE NO.SC01-982

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

AUG 2 4 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

LOUIS B. GASKIN,

Appellant,

v.

## STATE OF FLORIDA, ET. AL.,

Appellee,

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT**

PETER J. CANNON CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813)740-3544

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

# **

#### **Statement of the Case and Facts**

The Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the Middle Region of Florida is one of three state agencies established to handle the collateral appeals of death row inmates. Mr. Gaskin was a client of CCRC -Middle when the costs in dispute were incurred. On April 12<sup>th</sup>, 2001, the trial court entered an order requiring CCRC to pay all costs incident to the Defendant's post conviction capital proceedings, including the fees charged by the Clerk of the Court for the preparation of the record on appeal.

It is undisputed that Mr. Gaskin is indigent (PCR - 56).

On January 22,2001, the County of Volusia filed a motion objecting to the Defendant's motion declaring defendant indigent for purposes of appeal. (PCR - 58). Flagler County filed a similar motion in opposition to the court granting the Defendant's motion. (PCR - 62).

The April 12<sup>th</sup>, 2001 order states that CCRC is responsible for payment of all costs incident to the Defendant's postconviction capital proceeding. (PCR - 65). The trial court relied on this Court's holdings in <u>Orange County v. Williams</u>, 702 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1997), <u>Porter v. State</u>, 700 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1997) and <u>Hoffman v.</u> <u>Haddock</u>, 695 So.2d 682 (Fla. 1997). In denying the Defendant's motion, the court never addressed in its order whether Mr. Gaskin was indigent.

1

On May 4,2001 CCRC timely appealed the trial court's order directing CCRC to pay all costs incident to the Defendant's postconviction capital proceeding which is the issue of this appeal.

#### **Standard of Review**

The standard of review is de novo because the issues are purely legal and the material facts are undisputed.

## **Request for Oral Argument**

Louis B. Gaskin, through counsel, respectfully requests the opportunity to air the subsequent issues through oral argument.

#### **Summary of the Argument**

The Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the Middle Region of Florida is mandated by the Florida Legislature to represent all defendants sentenced to death in state and federal collateral proceedings. All clients of CCRC are indigent and cannot afford the cost of representation.

The trial court entered an order requiring CCRC to pay for the costs of the transcript and preparing the record on appeal. In so finding, the trial court stated that there was no authority for waiving the clerk's fees and it could not compel the counties to pay such fees,

In coming to this conclusion, the trial court relied on this Court's holdings in

Orange County v. Williams, 702 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1997), Porter v. State, 700 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1997) and Hoffman v. Haddock, 695 So.2d 682 (Fla. 1997).

CCRC appeals the trial court's order and argues that the counties can be compelled to pay for certain fees and that other fees incidental to the postconviction proceedings can be waived and, further, there exists no statutory authority compelling CCRC to pay such costs. Under section 43.28, "The counties shall provide appropriate courtrooms, facilities, equipment, and, unless provided by the state, personnel necessary to operate the circuit and county courts." This provision has been construed by this Court to mean that the counties are required by law to provide <u>all costs</u> necessary to operate the circuit and county courts not paid for by the state. This includes attorneys fees and <u>costs</u> of required counsel. Required counsel are court appointed for indigent defendants.

Regarding the court reporter's transcript costs section 27.006 reads:

(I) State general revenue funds appropriated for purposes of court reporting <u>shall</u> be paid to the counties in accordance with the provisions of the General Appropriations Act.

(2) The funds necessary to pay the <u>costs</u> of reporting in criminal proceedings <u>shall</u> be supplemented by the respective counties as necessary to provide competent reporters in such proceedings.

As such, there exists a statutory framework allowing for a third alternative to the

ones proffered by the parties: that the county pay for the costs of the transcripts and then seek reimbursement from the state.

Additionally, Article V, section 14 of the Florida Constitution was revised requiring the state to fund much of the state court system. In order to carry out the mandate of Article V, section 14, the Legislature created chapter **29** setting out the initial procedure for funding the court system. Section 29.008 requires that "Counties shall pay reasonable and necessary salaries, <u>costs</u>, and <u>expenses of the state court system to meet local reauirements as determined by general law</u>." Further, in implementing the court funding system of Chapter **29**, the

<u>counties will continue to fund existing elements of the</u> <u>state courts system</u>, state attorneys' offices, public defenders' offices, court-appointed counsel, <u>and the</u> <u>offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts</u> <u>performing court related functions</u>, consistent with current law and practice, until such time as the Legislature expressly assumes the responsibility for funding those elements.

Until "the Legislature expressly assumes the responsibility for funding those elements" the counties are required to pay for the costs of the clerk of the courts "performing court related functions". Section 29.001, Fla. Stat. (2000). The duties listed in section 28.24 of the Florida Statutes are "court related functions". Using this Court's interpretation of section 43.28, the county would be required to continue paying for such costs. The responsibility of CCRC to pay such costs were found as a result of this Court's misplaced reliance on the language contained in section 27.705(3) stating that "necessary expenses of office from state funds appropriated thereof'. The first sentence of paragraph (3), however, is not a substantive statute, one that confers a right or imposes a duty, but a procedural limitation as illustrated by the last clause "are for a valid public purpose". The term "valid public purpose" is a limitation on governmental power and is employed in statutes and case law. As such, in using the traditional tools of statutory construction and the canons of construction, it is clear that section 27.705(3) imposes no duty upon CCRC to pay for the costs at issue in the present case.

In Williams, it is important to note that this Court found it appropriate to include as an appendix guidelines in determining "reasonable attorney fees, costs, and expenses for conflict capital representative counsel in postconviction relief proceedings." In the section entitled "Excerpt from Administration of Funds Memorandum No. II, May 7, 1997", the judge waived the cost for the service of process. **As** such, in the case of the indigent defendant, this Court found it appropriate that costs be waived. Additionally, because Mr. Gaskin was preparing to file a state habeas corpus petition, section 57.091, Fla. Stat. (2000), would have been applicable, Again, as stated above, the third option available to the county is

5

reimbursement from the state general revenue fund especially when there is the existing statutory framework allowing such costs to be paid by the county.

Consistent throughout the statutory framework and caselaw addressing this issue is reference to the term "costs". It is clear that it is the duty of the counties to pay such costs as defined in section 43.28, Fla. Stat. (2000). In closing, it is the position of CCRC that there exists a statutory framework for the payment of certain costs and that other costs can be, and have in the past been, waived.

#### **I.** Introduction

The Office of the Capital Collateral Representative was originally created by the Legislature "to provide for the representation of any person convicted and sentenced to death in this state who is unable to secure counsel due to indigence, so that collateral legal proceedings to challenge such conviction and sentence may be commenced in a timely manner...." Section 27.7001, Fla.Stat. (1991); see also, Fla. S. Comm. Judiciary-Criminal, CS for SB 616 (1985) Staff Analysis 3 (July 15, 1985)(on file with Repository)("The purpose of this legislation is to provide legal representation for death row inmates who are indigent and unable to afford counsel for their collateral appeals.") Since its creation, CCRC was mandated to represent all persons convicted and sentenced to death. Section 27.7001, Fla. Stat. (**Supp.** 1996); See Orange County v. Williams, 702 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1997). In 1997, after considering the recommendations of the Shevin Report and the McDonald Committee,' the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative was split into three regional offices. <u>See</u> Ch. 97-313, section 1; <u>Allen v. Butterworth</u>, *756* So.2d 52, *57-58* (2000). The three offices " function independently and [are] separate budget entities". Section 27.702, Fla. Stat. (2000).

Funding for the three offices comes from a variety of sources depending upon the services provided or received. <u>See</u> sections 27.702(1), Fla. Stat. (2000)(Each office shall be a separate budget entity); 27.702(3)(a), Fla. Stat. (2000)(requiring application for reimbursement from the federal government for proceedings in federal court); 27.705, Fla. Stat. (2000)(salaries of each capital collateral regional counsel and assistants shall be paid out of the general revenue fund).

On appeal in the instant action is the trial court's denial of the Defendant' Amended Motion Determining Indigence for Purposes of Appeal (PCR-54)(hereinafter "order"). At issue is whether the office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the Middle Region of Florida (Hereinafter CCRC) is required to pay for the costs for preparation of the record on appeal or whether any costs may be waived if it is found that the defendant is indigent. The trial court found

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Shevin report resulted from a **study** conducted by former Attorney General Robert Shevin. **A** committee **was** then formed and headed by former Justice Parker Lee McDonald to recommend reforms to the legislature.

that there "are no statutory provisions that impose an obligation on the counties to pay the costs of [3 collateral litigation and they cannot be compelled to pay such costs." (PCR-72). In coming to this conclusion, the trial court cited this Court's rulings in <u>Orange County v. Williams,<sup>2</sup> Porter v. State</u> and <u>Hoffman v. Haddock</u>.

#### Argument

# **11. Existing Statutory Framework Compels the Counties to Pay Certain Costs and Provides for the Reimbursement of Costs to the Counties.**

**As** stated <u>supra</u>, the trial court found that there "are no statutory provisions that impose an obligation on the counties to pay the costs of [] collateral litigation and they cannot be compelled to pay such costs." (PCR-66). Under section 43.28, "The counties shall provide appropriate courtrooms, facilities, equipment, and, unless provided by the state, personnel necessary to operate the circuit and county courts." Section 43.28, Fla. Stat. (2000). This provision has been construed by this Court to mean that the counties are required by law to provide <u>all costs</u> necessary to operate the circuit and county courts not paid for by the state. <u>Hoffman v.</u> <u>Haddock</u>, 695 So.2d 682 (Fla. 1997)(emphasis added). "This includes attorneys fees and <u>costs</u> of required counsel." <u>Id</u>, at 684 (emphasis added), <u>citing</u>, <u>In re D.B.</u> and <u>D.S.</u>, 385 So.2d 83 (Fla. 1980) and <u>Brevard County Bd. Of County Comm'rs</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 702 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 700 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1997).

v. <u>Moxley</u>, 526 So.2d So.2d 1023 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1988). Not included in this interpretation of section 43.28 was a definition of what an actual "cost" is and whether this is different from a regular expenditure.

Elsewhere, in statutes relating to Article V of the Florida Constitution, there are definitions and duties as they relate to "costs", Part I of Chapter 27<sup>4</sup> concerns the duties of the official court reporter as they relate to Article V costs. Section 27.006 reads:

(1) State general revenue funds appropriated for purposes of court reporting <u>shall</u> be paid to the counties in accordance with the provisions of the General Appropriations Act.

(2) The funds necessary to **pay** the <u>costs</u> of reporting in criminal proceedings <u>shall</u> be supplemented by the respective counties as necessary to provide competent reporters in such proceedings.

Section 27.006, Fla. Stat. (2000)(emphasis added).

Further, section 27.0061 defines the expenditure for producing the transcript shall

be "taxed as costs in the case." Section 27.0061, Fla. Stat. (2000). Accordingly,

there are statutory provisions that deal with the term "costs" and these costs are not

limited to the type of proceeding whether they relate to direct appeal, a habeas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There is no indication in Mr. Gaskin's record on appeal of this issue of the actual costs associated with **the** court reporter's fees and the clerk's fees for preparation of **the** record on appeal. It is generally argued that these **are** the costs at issue. <u>See Wuornos v. State, SCO1-983</u>.

petition or a collateral appeal.

In the instant case, the lower court cited this Court's rulings in Hoffman and it's progeny in holding that CCRC was responsible for all costs related to collateral proceedings. In <u>Hoffman</u>, the petitioner was sentenced to death for a 1980 murder. In 1990, this Court had ruled that the lower court's summary denial of the petitioner's 3.850 motion was error. In 1992, this Court made the same ruling. In 1997, the petitioner was scheduled to hold an evidentiary hearing on his claims but filed a motion to continue because CCR<sup>5</sup> did not have adequate funds until the start of the next fiscal year. The lower court denied the motion and CCR appealed, requesting a continuance or, in the alternative, an order requiring Duval County and the City of Jacksonville to pay all costs associated with the hearing. Id. at 683-84. This Court granted a continuance until the start of CCR's new fiscal year, but in so ruling stated that pursuant to the legislative intent of section 27.7001 and the express language of section 27.705(3) CCR was "responsible for the payment of all necessary costs and expenses." Id. at 684.

At the time of this Court's ruling, section 27.001 read:

It is the intent of the Legislature to create part IV of this chapter, consisting of ss.27.7001-27.708, inclusive, to provide for the collateral representation of any person

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The current Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel (CCRC) was originally **formed** as the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR).

convicted and sentenced to death in this state, so that collateral legal proceedings to challenge any Florida capital conviction and sentence may be commenced in a timely manner and so as to assure the people of this state that the judgement of its courts may be regarded with the finality to which they are entitled in the interests of justice. It is the further intent of the legislature that collateral representation shall not include representation during retrials, resentencings, proceedings commenced under chapter 940, or civil litigation.

Section 27.7001, Fla. Stat. (1995).

Section 27.705(3), the specific section relied upon by this Court in determining

that CCR was responsible for all costs and expenses, read, in pertinent, as follows:

**27.705 Salaries of capital collateral regional counsel and assistant capital collateral counsel.-** (3)All payments of the salary of each of the capital collateral regional counsel and employees of his or her office, <u>and</u> payments for other necessary expenses of office from state funds appropriated therefor, are for a valid public purpose.

27.705(3), Fla. Stat. (1995)(emphasis added).

In so ruling, this Court relied on the language emphasized above and the limitation in section 43.28, quoted <u>supra</u>, in conferring a duty upon CCR to pay all costs. While counsel for CCR in <u>Hoffman</u> may have conceded some duty to **pay** costs of the proceedings, it is the position of current counsel on the limited question presented that this agency is not obligated to pay costs for the record on appeal,

There is no direct language in part IV of Chapter **27** requiring the CCRCs to pay for transcripts or the record on appeal. It is clear from the language of section 43.28, F.S. (2000), and Hoffman, that the counties are required to **pay** for such costs for indigent defendants. In deciding the issue presented in Hoffman, however, this Court did not recognize a third alternative available to the county, that while initially paying for such costs, the county shall seek reimbursement from the state.

In the instant action, the court order directs CCRC to pay "all costs incident to the Defendant's postconviction capital proceedings" (PCR-65), again on the basis that "[t]here are no statutory provisions that impose an obligation on the counties". Id at 66. This is in direct contradiction to Section 27.006 of the Florida Statutes. Section 27.0061 defines that the expenditure for producing the transcript shall be "taxed as costs in the case." As such, the cost of the transcript charges should be borne by the counties which therefore have the duty to seek reimbursement from the state.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This is also consistent with the concerns of <u>Hoffman</u> (Wells, J. concurring) in which the issue of an expert fee of \$6000.00 was raised as possibly being excessive. Such expenses are clearly within the proscribed duties of CCRC to pay and the agency has a duty to spend its resources wisely. Under Chapter 27, CCRC has no control over who is designated as the "official court reporter". As such, it has no control over the price of the contract for reporting services. As recognized in <u>Porter v. State</u>, 700So.2d 647 (Fla. 1997), there is wide discrepancy in the costs and efficiency of the various "official court reporters". Since the county has no incentive in such matters to bargain for the best price, the burden is shifted to CCRC which may suffer for the county's contract with an expensive reporting agency.

## III. The Florida Constitution As Revised and the Enacting Statutes Requires the Counties to Pay Certain Costs until the State Can Implement the Court Funding System

Recently, the 1968 Florida Constitution was revised. One revision to Article V

was an amendment to section 14 which states, in pertinent part:

(b) All funding for the offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts performing court-related functions, except as otherwise provided in this subsection and subsection (c), shall be provided by adequate and appropriate filing fees for judicial proceedings and service charges and costs for performing court-related functions as required by general law. Selected salaries, costs, and expenses of the state courts system may be funded from appropriate filing fees for judicial proceedings and service charges and costs for performing court-related functions, as provided by general law. Where the requirements of either the United States Constitution or the Constitution of the State of Florida preclude the imposition of filing fees for judicial proceedings and service charges and costs for performing court-related functions sufficient to fund the court-related functions of the offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts, the state shall provide, as determined by the legislature, adequate and appropriate supplemental funding from state revenues appropriated by general law.

(c) No county or municipality, except as provided in this subsection, shall be required to provide any funding for the state courts system, state attorneys' offices, public defenders' offices, court-appointed **counsel**<sup>7</sup>] or the offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts for performing court-related functions. Counties shall be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Under the definition of court-appointed counsel provided for in Chapter 29, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel and their assistants are not included. <u>See</u> **29.007**, Fla. **Stat**, (2000).

required to fund the cost of communications services, existing radio systems, existing multi-agency criminal justice information systems, and the cost of construction or lease, maintenance, utilities, and security of facilities for the trial courts, public defenders' offices, state attorneys' offices, and the offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts performing court-related functions. <u>Counties shall also pay reasonable and</u> <u>necessary salaries, costs, and expenses of the state courts</u> <u>system to meet local requirements as determined by</u> <u>general law.</u>

Article V, section 14 (1998 revised)(emphasis added).

In order to carry out the mandate of Article V, section 14, the Legislature

created Chapter 29 setting out the initial procedure for funding the court system.

Ch. 2000-237, section 1, Laws of Fla. Section 29.008 requires that "Counties shall

pay reasonable and necessary salaries, costs, and expenses of the state court system

to meet local requirements as determined by general law." Section 29.008(2), Fla.

Stat. (2000)(emphasis added). Further, in implementing the court funding system

of Chapter 29, the

counties will continue to fund existing elements of the state courts system, state attorneys' offices, public defenders' offices, court-appointed counsel, <u>and the</u> offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts performing, court related functions, consistent with current law and practice, until such time as the Legislature expressly assumes the responsibility for funding those elements.

Section 29.001, Fla. Stat. (2000)(emphasis added).

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