IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL SEP 0 6 2001

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

LOUIS B. GASKIN,

Appellant,

٧.

CASE NO.: SC01-982

Lower Tribunal No.: 95-34327-CFAES

STATE OF FLORIDA; COUNTY OF VOLUSIA; AND FLAGLER COUNTY,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF STATE OF FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 801-0600
(813) 356-1292 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no existing statutory framework which compels the counties to pay the costs for which CCRC is responsible. CCRC's statutory cost obligations have been settled by this Court. CCRC is responsible for providing the collateral representation of any person convicted and sentenced to death in this state and is to be responsible for the payment of all necessary costs and expenses related to postconviction matters. There are no statutory provisions that impose an obligation on the counties to pay the costs of this collateral representation.

There is nothing in the language of the Article V revision or the enacting statutes which requires the counties to pay CCRC's costs until the state can implement the court funding system. The provisions do not place any new cost burdens on the counties and only require the counties to continue funding existing elements of the state courts system consistent with current law and practice until the legislature assumes the responsibility for funding those elements. These provisions do not relieve CCRC of its postconviction cost obligations by placing them on the counties.

ARGUMENT.

7

THERE IS NO EXISTING STATUTORY FRAMEWORK WHICH COMPELS THE COUNTIES TO PAY THE COSTS FOR WHICH CCRC IS RESPONSIBLE. (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Chapter 27 of the Florida Statutes expressly directs that CCRC is to provide for the collateral representation of any person convicted and sentenced to death in this state and is to be responsible for the payment of all necessary costs and expenses.

Orange County v. Williams, 702 So.2d 1245 (Fla. 1997); Porter v. State, 700 So.2d 647 (Fla. 1997); and Hoffman v. Haddock, 695 So.2d 682 (Fla. 1997). The lower court cited this settled authority in its ruling that CCRC is responsible for payment of the fees charged by the clerk of the court for the preparation of the Appellant's record on appeal. (PCR 65-66)

Much like the CCRC counsel in Hoffman, who conceded that CCRC was responsible for bearing the costs of the proceedings, the Appellant's CCRC counsel in the hearing below conceded: "We realize our obligation under the statute that created CCRC to bear most, if not all, of the costs associated with post-conviction work, and we are going ahead with Mr. Gaskin's case with incurring those costs." (PCR 7) However, CCRC now argues that the counties are obligated to pay these costs, including the costs of transcripts and for the record on appeal, under Section 43.28,

Florida Statutes. It must be noted, however, that the CCRC counsel emphasized repeatedly at the hearing below that the only cost he was asking for, and the only cost in issue at the hearing, was the cost charged by the clerk for the preparation of the record on appeal. (PCR 7-8, 20, 29.) It also must be noted that this argument that the counties are responsible for these costs under Section 43.28 was not made at the hearing below an is inappropriately raised for the first time in this appeal.

In any event, Section 43.28 states as follows:

Court facilities. - The counties shall provide appropriate courtrooms, facilities, equipment, and, unless provided by the state, personnel necessary to operate the circuit and county courts. (Emphasis added)

Based on the provisions of Chapter 27, this Court has specifically rejected the notion that the counties would be responsible for the costs and expenses of collateral representation under Section 43.28. Hoffman, 695 So.2d at 684. When the legislature has intended counties to pay certain costs, it has expressly provided for such disbursements. Milligan v. Palm Beach County Board of County Commissioners, 704 So.2d 1050 (Fla. 1998). Counties are not responsible for court-related costs unless the legislature has explicitly mandated that the counties pay for same. State v. Garcia, 774 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). The legislature has not "explicitly mandated" any expenditure by the counties for the collateral representation of persons convicted and sentenced to

death. In fact, as this Court explained in Hoffman, the legislature has specifically mandated that CCRC bear the expense of such collateral representation.

In Orange County v. Williams, 702 So. 2d at 1247, this Court again relied on Chapter 27 to hold that CCRC must pay the costs of collateral representation, and the Court again rejected the contention that Section 43.28 burdens the counties with this obligation. "[T]he phrase 'unless provided by the state,' which immediately precedes the necessary personnel language, mandates a different result in this case." Id. The Appellant's "existing statutory framework" argument in the instant appeal is clearly disposed of by this Court's ruling in Williams that: "There are no statutory provisions that impose an obligation on the counties to pay the costs of collateral litigation." Id.

Finally, in Porter v. State, 700 So.2d at 648, this Court emphasized that the legislature has determined that CCRC is to bear the responsibility to pay all costs incident to postconviction capital proceedings. The Court ruled in <u>Porter</u> that counties do not have to pay for court reporter transcription fees - the sort of fee that in other contexts counties may have to pay under other statutes for local public defenders and state attorneys - where those fees arise in collateral proceedings. This Court reasoned that "payment of all postconviction costs out of CCRC's budget is not only statutorily required but is necessary to carry out the

legislative intent expressed in Section 27.7001, Florida Statutes
... Moreover, we believe it will further the goal of accounting for
and controlling costs in postconviction proceedings and further the
efficient processing of postconviction capital cases." (Emphasis
added) <u>Id</u>.

CCRC insists, though, that it is not obligated to pay clerk's fees charged for preparation of the record on appeal. This issue appears to have been settled by this Court in Long v. Pittman, 699 So. 2d 1351 (Fla. 1997). In Long the petitioner sought to require the respondent clerk of the circuit court to provide him with copies of his court files without charge. The petitioner was represented by CCRC, and the records were sought as part of that representation. Citing Porter and Hoffman, this Court ruled that CCRC must pay for the copies of the records from the clerk and that the copies of the court files would be produced only upon payment by CCRC of the usual fees for such records charged by the clerk. This Court did not place the burden on the clerk by requiring a waiver of the fees for preparing and mailing the requested records, and this Court did not place the burden on the county to pay said Rather, the Court mandated that such clerk's fees must be borne by CCRC.

The Appellant also puts forth the argument that due to the language in Sections 27.006 and 27.0061, Florida Statutes, "the cost of the transcript charges should be borne by the counties

which therefore have the duty to seek reimbursement from the state." These statutes have no bearing on the provisions set forth in Part IV of Chapter 27 related to capital collateral representation, and they do not govern or pertain to these cost obligations imposed on CCRC by Section 27.705(3). Furthermore, this issue was not raised in the proceeding below and in any event, has already been settled by this Court. Porter.

To the extent that Appellant may seek to rely on Miami-Dade Countv v. Jones, SC 00-1427 (Fla., Aug. 23, 2001), any comparison between Appellant's case, which is based upon settled law, and Jones, which deals with a situation in which financial responsibility is expressly placed on the county, is misplaced.

Miami-Dade County v. Jones dealt specifically with Chapter 916,

it would be particularly difficult to find that the County, which is clearly responsible for competency evaluations conducted pursuant to section 916.12, is not similarly obligated for the expert witness fees incurred during competency evaluations authorized by rule 3.851(d), which are fundamentally designed to protect the identical interests recognized under the statutory provisions.

Id. <u>Jones</u> is inapplicable to the facts of this case, and **does** not compel reversal of the circuit court, which expressly applied this Court's prior rulings in refusing to hold the County financially responsible for the costs of Appellant's post-conviction appeal.

Appellant's contention that this Court has misread the provisions of Section 27.705 (Appellant's Brief at 15) in deciding

prior cost cases should not long detain this Court. CCRC has had the opportunity, on at least four occasions, to convince this Court that it has "misread" the provisions of Section 27.705(3), Florida Statutes, concerning CCRC's cost issues. However, in Hoffman, Williams, Porter, and Long, supra, this Court obviously had the opportunity four times to study CCRC's statutory costs obligations and, after this much review, presumably concluded that it understood and had not "misread" the costs requirements imposed on CCRC under Section 27.705(3). This matter has been well settled by this Court, and there is no compelling reason to review it all over again now. Therefore, the Appellant's contention that Section 27.705(3) "is irrelevant to the current case as it relates to the duty of CCRC to pay for the costs of the transcript and preparation of the record" must be rejected.

II.

THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AS REVISED AND THE ENACTING STATUTES DO NOT REQUIRE THE COUNTIES TO PAY CCRC'S COSTS UNTIL THE STATE CAN IMPLEMENT THE COURT FUNDING SYSTEM. (STATED BY APPELLEE).

CCRC's next argument in support of its attempt to shift its statutorily mandated cost burden onto the counties is that the Florida Constitution revision resulting in the amendment to Article V, Section 14, and the creation of Chapter 29 of the Florida Statutes, recently enacted to implement this amendment, requires the counties to pay CCRC's bills for clerk of the court fees for preparing records on appeal until July 1, 2004, when the legislature presumably assumes the responsibility for this funding.

This creative argument was not made, suggested, or discussed in any way in the proceeding below and is now raised for the first time on appeal before this Court. It is well settled law that an appellate court cannot consider issues that were not raised in the lower tribunal, and it is inappropriate for a party to raise an issue for the first time on appeal. Morales v. Sperry Rand Corporation, 601 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1992); Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981); Sparta State Bank v. Pape, 477 So.2d 3 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); and Palmer v. Thomas, 284 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973). It is a general rule of appellate review, based on practical necessity and fairness to the opposing party and the trial judge, that issues not raised below will not be considered on

appeal. Parlier v. Eagle-Picher Industries, Inc., 622 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

In support of his argument that the counties are required to pay the clerk's preparation of the record on appeal fees until the legislature expressly assumes the responsibility for funding the state courts system, the Appellant recites the new statutory requirements that, prior to July 1, 2004, the counties "will continue to fund existing elements of the state courts system, state attorneys' offices, public defenders' offices, courtappointed counsel, and the offices of the clerks of the circuit and county courts performing court-related functions, consistent with current law and practice, until such time as the Legislature expressly assumes the responsibility for funding those elements." (Emphasis added) \$\$ 29.001(3), 29.003(5), Fla. Stat. (2000). Ifthe counties are to continue funding for three more years the offices of the clerks performing court-related functions, "consistent with current law and practice", then such funding certainly would not include paying CCRC's preparation of the record on appeal fees because the "current law" as stated by this Court in Hoffman, Porter, Williams, and Long, supra, directs that CCRC pays these type of costs. This provision in Chapter 29 that the counties continue funding the state courts system "does not place

^{&#}x27;Section 29.001(1) Florida Statutes, does not specifically include CCRC in its definition of the state courts system.

a <u>new burden</u> on the counties." (Emphasis added) Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, CS/SB 1212 (March 30, 2000), p. 12.

Article V, Section 14, says that counties shall not be required to provide any funding for the state courts system. However, the Appellant focuses on the language found in Article V, Section 14, and in Section 29.008(2), Florida Statutes, that says: "Counties shall also pay reasonable and necessary salaries, costs, and expenses of the state courts system to meet local requirements as determined by general law." This language does nothing to help the Appellant's argument. In a commentary offering the statement of intent of Article V, Section 14, Alan C. Sundberg and Jon L. Mills explain the meaning of this provision as follows:

A local requirement exists where there are special circumstances in a given circuit or county which have resulted in or necessitate implementation of specialized programs or the commitment of resources which would not generally be required in other circuits such as where a county adopts a local program, local ordinance orextraordinary activities which have substantial financial or operational impact upon a given circuit. Examples may include, but are not limited to, specialized support personnel, staffing and resources for video arraignments, pretrial related programs or misdemeanant probation. Core functions and requirements of the state courts system and other court-related functions and requirements which are statewide in nature cannot be local Further, it is the intent of requirements. the proposers that any function or requirement of the state courts system which is mandated

by general law of statewide application cannot
be a local requirement.

West's F.S.A.Const.Art.V, § 14, Commentary, Statement of Intent, Article V, Section 14. Thus, the Article V revision requiring the state to fund the state courts system does not release CCRC of its costs responsibilities by placing that burden on the counties.

THE COUNTIES CANNOT BE COMPELLED TO PAY FOR THE RECORD FOR THE INDIGENT DEFENDANT IN COLLATERAL CASES. (STATED BY APPELLEE).

CCRC, and not the counties, is compelled to pay for the record for their indigent clients in collateral cases. <u>See</u> Lonq v. Pittman, 699 So.2d at 1351 (citing Porter and Hoffman, supra). There is absolutely no duty imposed on the counties to pay CCRC's statutorily mandated costs and then seek reimbursement from the state general revenue fund, as suggested by CCRC. This reimbursement theory, which was not argued below and is raised for the first time in this appeal, is without merit as well as impractical. As shown in Section 27.705(3), all payments for CCRC's salaries and "other necessary expenses of office" are from state funds appropriated therefor. Since state funds are appropriated directly to CCRC for its costs and expenses, it would make no sense to ask the counties to pay CCRC's costs and then have to turn around and seek reimbursement from the state. There is no authority or logic to support this suggestion of going through an additional layer of bureaucracy to get the bills paid when there is already a statute in place providing for state funds to be appropriated to CCRC to pay their bills directly.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the lower court's ruling denying appellant's motion for payment of costs should be affirmed.